

Clinical Applications in Lung Point-of-Care Ultrasound Assessment in Neonates

Nadya Yousef and Daniele De Luca

Contents

Introduction	164
Technical Considerations	164
Clinical Applications of Lung Ultrasound for the Diagnosis of Neonatal Respiratory Diseases	164
Transitional Period	164
Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia	169
Functional Use of Lung Ultrasound	170
Lung Ultrasound Scores	170
Lung Ultrasound Scores in RDS	170
Integrating Lung Ultrasound into POCUS Protocols	173
Conclusion	173
References	173

N. Yousef (🖂)

D. De Luca

Division of Pediatrics and Neonatal Critical Care "A. Béclère" Medical Center, Paris Saclay University Hospitals, APHP, Paris, France

Physiopathology and Therapeutic Innovation Unit-INSERM U999, Paris Saclay University, Paris, France

Division of Pediatrics and Neonatal Critical Care "A. Béclère" Medical Center, Paris Saclay University Hospitals, APHP, Paris, France e-mail: nadya.yousef@aphp.fr

Introduction

The field of neonatal lung point-of-care ultrasound (POCUS) is rapidly expanding. Lung POCUS is a safe and rapid bedside tool used for the diagnosis of the most common acute respiratory diseases in the newborn period. In addition, lung POCUS can be used to monitor postnatal adaptation, predict the need for ventilation and/or surfactant, and evolving chronic lung disease (CLD) [1]. Lung POCUS is especially attractive in neonates because of concerns about the potential long-term effects of radiation from repeated X-rays during thier hospitalization stay in the neonatal intensive care unit [2, 3]. LU is used as an adjunct to the clinical examination and it must be always interpreted in light of available clinical findings and laboratory data [4]. The described findings for specific neonatal respiratory disorders are therefore only valid for the neonatal period when these pathologies are present.

Technical Considerations

The lungs are superficial organs. Since newborns have small chests with little subcutaneous tissue, almost any ultrasound transducer can be used to perform lung ultrasound. In order to obtain good quality images of the neonatal lung, high-frequency linear or micro-linear probes, usually with a frequency of 10 MHz or above, are most frequently utilized [5–7]. Since lung POCUS is based on the analysis of artifacts, machine settings need to be adjusted to minimize filters and facilitate the analysis of pleural sliding and artifacts as discussed in Chap. 10.

Clinical Applications of Lung Ultrasound for the Diagnosis of Neonatal Respiratory Diseases

Transitional Period

The transitional period from fetus to neonate is a unique period in life that involves complex physiological processes that must occur within a short period of time. The use of lung POCUS has helped clinicians gain additional insight into the pulmonary transition.

In healthy term and near-term neonates, lung aeration and partial airway fluid clearance occur within the first few minutes of life and complete fluid clearance is usually accomplished within 3-4 hours after birth [8, 9]. A significant decrease in the number of B-lines, as an estimation of lung fluid, is observed over the first 24 hours after birth and is associated with an increase in static lung compliance [10]. Regional differences in airway clearance have been observed and may be quantified using a lung ultrasound score [11].

Most infants quickly and smoothly complete the adaptation process, but some will experience delay and present signs of distress and/or underlying disease. Lung POCUS emerges as a promising tool for the early identification of infants at risk for pulmonary maladaptation. Raimondi et al. demonstrated that early use of lung POCUS using a simple 3-point classification based on ultrasound patterns (type-1, white lung; type-2, black/white lung; type-3, normal lung) predicts the need for NICU admission for respiratory support in term and near-term infants [12]. Poerio et al. confirmed the reliability of lung POCUS performed at 30 min after birth to predict NICU admission for term and near-term infants born by cesarian section [13]. These findings may have practical implications in the management of infants born in facilities without a NICU on-site when decisions regarding transfer to another facility and separation of mother and child are required.

Transient Tachypnea of the Newborn

Transient tachypnea of the newborn (TTN) is a common cause of respiratory distress in the immediate newborn period. Lung edema observed in TTN is the result of delayed alveolar fluid resorption and clearance during the transitional period. Copetti and Cattarossi first described LU signs in TTN characterized by

b

Fig. 1 Transient tachypnea of the newborn (TTN). The lung shows a mix of A- and B-lines with a well-defined pleural line. Areas with B-lines alternate with intercostal spaces with multiple A-lines and a "double lung point"

(DLP) (arrow) may be observed sharply separating both areas. The DLP is not necessary for diagnosis as shown in panel ${\bf b}$

areas of B-lines (interstitial syndrome) in the lower lung fields with normal or almost normal areas (A-lines) in the upper lung fields [14]. A sharp transition between the two patterns called the "double lung point" (DLP) is typical for TTN and has not been described for any other neonatal respiratory diseases [14] (Fig. 1a). The presence of spared areas (with A-lines) in a late preterm or term neonate, with mild to moderate respiratory failure, is suggestive of TTN [14]. A regular pleural line with no consolidation is a consistent finding in TTN and may be a reliable sign to exclude other lung disorders [15]. However, future studies are needed to determine the diagnostic accuracy of these signs. Raimondi et al. demonstrated that although the presence of a DLP is a specific finding in TTN, it is not necessary for its diagnosis [15–17] (Fig. 1b). In these studies, DLP was present in roughly 50% of patients, and serial scanning showed that it could present later in the course of the disease [15]. A lung ultrasound aeration score correlates with the work of breathing in TTN and may be useful to monitor changes in lung aeration throughout the course of the disease [15].

Respiratory Distress Syndrome

Respiratory distress syndrome (RDS), originally called hyaline membrane disease, is primarily observed in preterm infants and is the result of insufficient surfactant production. The risk and severity of RDS is inversely proportional to gestational age. Surfactant deficiency leads to reduced pulmonary compliance and increased alveolar surface tension leading to alveolar collapse and reduced surface area for gas exchange. RDS may present with other conditions including pneumonia, early onset sepsis, and/or air leaks [1].

Lung ultrasound imaging in RDS reflects the underlying pathophysiology with loss of aeration and decreased air/fluid ratio in the lungs. The lungs show severe diffuse alveolo-interstitial syndrome with an irregular pleural line, microconsolidations ("subpleural consolidations"), and uncountable, "confluent" B-lines giving rise to a bilateral uniform "white lung" appearance as first described by Copetti et al. [6] (Fig. 2). There are no spared areas, i.e., no areas with A-pattern, in severe RDS. Lung sliding is preserved. Other findings include "subpleural" microconsolidations and/or an irregular pleural line [6]. An adapted neonatal lung ultrasound score may be used to predict the need for surfactant in preterm infants with RDS and guide surfactant administration (see below).

Lung Ultrasound in RDS and TTN

Lung POCUS can accurately and reliably diagnose and differentiate TTN and RDS and little Fig. 2 Respiratory distress syndrome (RDS). The lung has a "white" lung appearance with no spared areas. The pleural line is thick and irregular with "subpleural" microconsolidations (arrows)



previous experience is needed to achieve a high level of inter-operator concordance. From a pathophysiological point of view, RDS is a more severe and homogeneously diffuse condition than TTN. The absence of spared areas (with A-pattern) on lung ultrasound is the main difference between RDS when compared to TTN. Furthermore, ultrasound findings in RDS do not show short-term changes as is the case with TTN [15]. Interestingly, there appears to be a mixed-type RDS/TTN respiratory condition when fluid retention is associated with partial surfactant deficiency [1]. The clinical picture in these mixed cases is often more severe than the "classic" TTN, with longer recovery times, high noninvasive respiratory support and, occasionally, the need for surfactant administration [1]. Lamellar body count for these babies with mixed-type RDS/TTN is decreased, and although spared areas on lung POCUS are seen, these are often limited to a few areas compared with the "classic" TTN [18]. A semi-quantitative lung ultrasound aeration score correlates well with the quality of available endogenous surfactant and may be an interesting tool in studying this patient subgroup [19].

Pneumothorax

The diagnosis of pneumothorax in neonates is based on the same signs described in the adult literature and described in Chap. 10 [20]:

- Loss of lung sliding and lung pulse with the presence of the "stratosphere sign" on the M-mode
- 2. The exclusive presence of A-lines with the absence of any other artifact (e.g., B-lines, Z-lines or consolidation)
- 3. The presence of a lung point (which may not be found in a large pneumothorax)

Lung POCUS can be used to rapidly diagnose or rule out tension pneumothorax in the newborn and shows excellent diagnostic accuracy which is superior to chest X-rays a time to diagnosis that is significantly shorter [21–23]. The diagnostic accuracy of lung POCUS for the diagnostic of pneumothorax in newborns appears to be higher than in adults. A meta-analysis performed by Dahamarde showed a sensitivity of 96.7% (88.3– 99.6%), a specificity of 100% (97.7–100%), with an odds ratio of 1343.1% (167.20–10788.9) in neonates compared to a sensitivity of 82.9% (78.3–86.9%), a specificity of 98.2% (97.0– 99.0%), and an odds ratio of 423.13% (45.222– 3959.1) in adults [24]. According to current recommendations, lung POCUS should be used to not only diagnose pneumothorax in children and neonates but also to provide guidance for thoracentesis [25].

Meconium Aspiration Syndrome

Meconium aspiration syndrome (MAS) is a common cause of neonatal respiratory distress which carries variable severity. The presence of meconium in the airways leads to airway obstruction and alveolar collapse, while the chemical properties of meconium induce lung tissue inflammation, chemical alveolar injury, and surfactant damage [26]. When lung injury is sufficiently severe and diffuse, it may lead to a severe oxygenation deficit fulfilling the criteria for neonatal acute respiratory distress syndrome (nARDS) [27]. The heterogeneous nature of MAS is reflected in the lung POCUS findings (Fig. 3) with signs of airway obstruction by meconium plugs (atelectasis and/or consolidation) and lung inflammation (interstitial syndrome and consolidation) [28, 29]. Mild or moderate pleural effusion may also be present. Images for the same patient may include normal lung areas, interstitial pattern, alveolar pattern, and consolidations with bronchograms and atelectasis [28, 29]. These images are dynamic and change rapidly over the course of the disease. The lung ultrasound score (LUS) in MAS shows a significant negative correlation with the quality of available endogenous surfactant [30].

Pneumonia

Diagnosis of congenital pneumonia currently relies on clinical, biological, and radiological findings. Adding lung POCUS to the investigation of a newborn with suspected congenital pneumonia may increase the specificity of the diagnosis, especially for complicated cases [31]. The typical lung POCUS signs of pneumonia are the presence of consolidations with air bronchograms, and an irregular pleural line with areas of B-lines with or without pleural effusion (Fig. 4). These signs have a high diagnostic accuracy according to the study performed by Liu et al. [32]. Similar results were found by Chen et al. in a larger cohort of 3405 Chinese neonates who were routinely scanned using lung ultrasound [33]. This is consistent with data from the pediatric population where a meta-analysis of eight diagnostic studies (765 patients including both neonates and children) yielded a sensitivity and a specificity of 96 and 93%, respectively, which is superior to the accuracy of chest X-rays and comparable to that obtained combining radiology and laboratory exams [34].



Fig. 3 Meconium aspiration syndrome (MAS). Lung ultrasound images from a neonate presenting with severe MAS. Lung ultrasound reveals heterogeneous findings related to injury and obstruction by meconium. Panel **a**: scan of the anterior chest wall showing an irregular pleural line with small consolidations (arrows) and multiple

B-lines. Panel **b**: scan of the lateral chest wall showing multiple B-lines and a large consolidation with irregular borders (arrow). Panel **c**: horizontal (transcostal) scan of the posterior chest wall showing consolidation with a rim of pleural effusion (*)

Fig. 4 Pneumonia. Horizontal (transcostal) scan of the anterolateral region of the chest. Typical signs of pneumonia are shown and include consolidation with shred sign (traced in red) with air bronchograms (arrows), areas with B-lines, and pleural effusion (*)



Many questions still remain unanswered regarding the diagnosis of neonatal pneumonia. For example, the abovementioned lung ultrasound signs are typically associated with pneumonia, but congenital pneumonia may also present with an alveolar-interstitial pattern, and an irregular pleural line with or without small consolidations [35]. These findings will need to be confirmed in larger studies. Lung POCUS may also be an interesting tool in the diagnosis management of neonatal ventilatorand associated pneumonia (VAP) as described in a recent study by Tusor et al. [36]. The proposed multiparametric score including clinical variables and lung ultrasound findings demonstrates promising predictive values for diagnosis of VAP in neonates with underlying CLD but needs further testing in larger patient populations under prospective, multicenter clinical trial settings.

Bronchopulmonary Dysplasia

Bronchopulmonary dysplasia (BPD) remains a major negative outcome of prematurity. BPD is a continuum starting soon after, or even before birth, and potentially continuing throughout infancy as chronic respiratory morbidity. BPD is characterized by its evolutive nature and its variable clinical severity [37]. Lung POCUS can document the evolving changes of BPD that include pleural line abnormalities, areas with B-lines, and consolidations and reflect the non-homogenous nature of the disease. The characteristic lung POCUS finding of BPD is the presence of a thick pleural line with areas of interstitial-alveolar syndrome, in some cases a "white lung" appearance, with or without consolidations [35, 38]. Lung ultraosund can reliably predict progression towards BPD starting shortly after birth (see below).

Neonatal Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome

ARDS is an acute and life-threatening respiratory disease characterized by extensive lung tissue inflammation, endothelial injury, and secondary surfactant dysfunction that leads to loss of lung aeration [27]. Pediatric (pARDS) and neonatal ARDS (nARDS) share the same biological and pathophysiological aspects as adult ARDS. However, nARDS may have different pathophysiology that presents specifically in the neonatal period, such as MAS, pulmonary hemorrhage, sepsis, perinatal asphyxia, pneumonia, and/or necrotizing enterocolitis [1].

Lung POUS findings show bilateral, irregular, diffuse loss of aeration that may vary from a diffuse interstitial pattern to an irregular alveolar pattern with consolidations, air bronchograms, and atelectasis [1, 39]. The Montreux diagnostic definition of

nARDS officially requires chest radiographic findings defined as "diffuse, bilateral and irregular opacities or infiltrates, or complete opacification of the lungs, which are not fully explained by local effusion, atelectasis, RDS, TTN, or congenital lung anomalies," but lung POCUS is used reliably for the diagnosis of ARDS in adults [40],] and is considered suitable in neonates when sufficient clinical expertise is available for interpretation [41]. Further research is necessary to define the use of lung POCUS in pARDS and nARDS.

Congenital Lung and Airway Malformations

Congenital pulmonary adenomatous malformation (CPAM) and pulmonary sequestration (PS) are usually diagnosed prenatally. Although most of the babies are asymptomatic at birth, some may present with respiratory distress and/or hemodynamic compromise and require critical care and early surgical resection [42]. Chest CT and CT-angiography remain the gold standard for postnatal management of CPAM and PS, but lung POCUS seems promising as an additional bedside tool for diagnosis, follow-up, and management. Several case series show that lung POCUS can be used to confirm lung lesions in infants with an antenatal diagnosis of CPAM [43–45]. The main lung ultrasound findings for CPAM are the presence of single or multiple cystic lesions, with or without consolidation, and have not been described for any other neonatal lung disease [43] (Fig. 5). In PS, the search for evidence of a systemic feeding vessel is essential [45].

Congenital Diaphragmatic Hernia

Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH) is a complex condition with considerable associated mortality and morbidity rates. The congenital defect of the diaphragm leads to herniation of abdominal organs into the thorax and compromise of the ipsilateral as well as contralateral lung leading to lung hypoplasia and pulmonary hypertension. The role of lung POCUS in the

Fig. 5 Congenital pulmonary adenomatous malformation (CPAM). Vertical scan of a CPAM lesion. The presence of one or more cystic lesions (arrows) in the lung parenchyma is characteristic of CPAM and has not been described for other neonatal respiratory diseases



Fig. 6 Congenital diaphragmatic hernia (CDH). Vertical scan of the left anterior chest wall. In this image, loops of small bowel (bracket) are seen above the pleural line (arrow)



diagnosis and management of CDH seems promising but remains to be determined [35, 46]. Postnatal data on lung POCUS findings are scarce and limited to case descriptions. Thoracic ultrasound shows a defect in the diaphragm, with partial absence of the pleural line and absence of A-lines in the affected hemithorax, and the presence of a multilayered area with hyperechoic dynamic content (bowel) with or without abdominal organs in the thoracic cavity [46]. (Fig. 6).

Functional Use of Lung Ultrasound

Lung POCUS is a valuable tool for the diagnosis of the most common respiratory diseases shown in the sections above. In addition, lung POCUS can be used to guide respiratory therapeutic interventions and help in clinical decision-making as shown below.

Lung Ultrasound Scores

Lung POCUS is an excellent tool for the evaluation of loss of lung aeration as it detects the artifacts generated when the fluid/air ratio in the lungs increases. The decrease in aeration leads to an increase in B-lines and/or a progression towards consolidation seen with complete loss of aeration. Multiple quantitative lung aeration scores have been developed based on this concept and are widely used in adult critical medicine to guide ventilation and lung recruitment, as well as for other applications [47, 48]. Quantitative and semi-quantitative LUS are fairly recent techniques in pediatric and neonatal critical care and are based on the same principles as adult scores [1]. The following subsections will discuss a few main applications of LUS in newborn (Fig. 7).

Lung Ultrasound Scores in RDS

The lung in RDS is characterized by a loss of aeration as a result of alveolar collapse due to surfactant deficiency. A quantitative LUS first published by Brat et al. is a simplified version of the adult lung ultrasound aeration scores [7]. The LUS is specifically adapted for newborn and correlates significantly with the quality of available surfactant [19]. Each lung is divided into three



Fig.7 The LUS score. © 2022 Yousef. All rights reserved with permission. The lung ultrasound score allows for a quantitative evaluation of lung aeration in the newborn. Each lung is divided into three regions. A score of 0–3 is given for each region and added to give a total score of

0-18; 0 is given for <3 B-lines per intercostal space, 1 >3 B-lines per intercostal space, 2 when there are uncountable B-lines and disappearance of A-lines, and 3 is given for consolidation. The LUS is the sum of the regional scores and is inversely correlated with lung aeration

regions (anterior superior and inferior, and lateral) and a score from 0 to 3 is given to each region according to the degree of lung aeration (Fig. 8). The LUS is calculated as the sum of regional scores (maximal score of 18) and shows high accuracy in predicting surfactant need in CPAP-treated preterm and extremely preterm infants [7, 49] with a meta-analytical AUC of 0.952 (95% CI: 0.951–0.953) for LUS cutoff value between 6 and 8, and a higher diagnostic accuracy than chest X-rays [50, 51]. Although most authors use the score described by Brat et al., some include the posterior field in the evaluation for a total of three to six areas of each lung [50].

Another simplified semi-quantitative approach has been proposed to evaluate the loss of aeration and utilizes three basic pattern classifications: Type 1 or white lung (severe alveolointerstitial pattern), Type 2 or white and black lung (moderate alveolo-interstitial pattern), and Type 3 or black lung (A-line pattern; normal lung) [52]. Both proposed methods show good diagnostic accuracy for the early prediction of the need for surfactant replacement, especially for younger preterm infants compared with late preterm and term infants as shown in two recent meta-analyses [50, 53].

Surfactant administration should ideally be performed within the first 2-3 hours after birth to reduce mortality and morbidity [54]. LUS-guided surfactant replacement (also known as (Echography-guided Surfactant THERapy (ESTHER)) significantly increases the number of patients treated within the optimal 3 hours time frame, reduces oxygen exposure early in life, and improves oxygenation after surfactant dosing, without increasing the use of surfactant or changing cost/benefit ratios [55–57].

Lung Ultrasound Scores in BPD

Early prediction of the respiratory clinical course and progression towards BPD are promising applications of functional lung POCUS in very low birth weight infants. Quantitative LUS allows



Fig. 8 The SAFE-R ultrasound protocol. © 2021 Gahlaut, Singh and Yousef. All rights reserved with permission. The SAFE-R protocol is specifically designed for the neonatologist faced with a suddenly decompensating NICU infant when no apparent cause is evident. The protocol starts at the upper left with the most urgent intra-thoracic causes: cardiac tamponade, tension pneumothorax, and pleural effusion, then includes extra-thoracic causes at the right hand of the figure with critical aortic occlusion, abdominal complication, and severe intraventricular hemorrhage. An important

reminder of the possibility of congenital heart disease (CHD) needing a full echocardiogram by an expert is indicated on both sides of the panel since for the neonatal population this remains an important differential diagnosis. The step-by-step ultrasound protocol uses a single probe, at standardized SAFE points and a simple rule-in/ rule-out approach. The decision tree is designed by urgency, and the order of the standardized points allows for a logical and easy use of the ultrasound probe from the thorax to the abdominal aorta, the iliac fossae, and then the head to monitor changes in lung aeration and lung function in extremely preterm infants over time.

Serial studies in preterm infants demonstrate a significant difference in the trajectory of LUS in infants who later develop BPD and those who do not [58-60]. This difference is observed as early as 1 week after birth. LUS are accurate for early prediction of BPD and moderate to severe BPD, in an average population of preterm infants <32 weeks' gestation as shown in a recent analysis by Pezza et al. [61]. These authors evaluated the use of LUS (the LUS described by Brat et al. and eLUS, an extended LUS including posterior lung regions) for the prediction of progression towards BPD diagnosed at 36 weeks gestational age. Seven studies (1027 neonates) were metaanalyzed. Both LUS and eLUS showed good diagnostic accuracy in predicting BPD at 7 and 14 days after birth (AUC 0.85-0.87; pooled sensitivity, 70-80%; pooled specificity, 80-87%) [61]. There is currently no specific treatment for BPD, but the ability to predict BPD at an early stage may have practical implications for the management of at-risk infants in the future.

Integrating Lung Ultrasound into POCUS Protocols

Targeted emergency ultrasound protocols are widely used in adult medicine in many situations, e.g., dyspnea [62], shock [62, 63], and cardiac arrest [63, 64]. There is a need for specific and adapted ultrasound protocols for the neonatal population. SAFE-R (Sonographic Assessment of liFe-threatening Emergencies—Revised) is the first ultrasound protocol specifically designed for the neonatologist faced with a suddenly decompensating infant in the NICU and aims to help guide initial management and resuscitation efforts [65].

SAFE-R uses standardized ultrasound points and a simple one-probe rule-in/rule-out approach and needs minimal training to perform (Fig. 8). SAFE-R allows for rapid screening for the most common life-threatening complications needing immediate attention, thereby allowing the clinician to quickly initiate treatment, or in the case of a negative screen, to promptly assess for other neonatal conditions such as sepsis, decompensation of metabolic or endocrine disorders, or critical congenital heart disease needing urgent comprehensive echocardiography.

The SAFE-R protocol requires prospective evaluation as have similar adult critical care ultrasound protocols [62]. Although any probe can be used, the optimal probe needs to be determined for each specific study [5]. International collaborative efforts are ongoing to develop and evaluate targeted multiorgan ultrasound protocols.

Conclusion

The integration of lung POCUS into clinical practice promises to transform the field of neonatology. Neonatal lung POCUS has evolved from being a purely descriptive tool for qualitative diagnosis of neonatal respiratory diseases to a functional bedside tool to quantitatively evaluate lung aeration and guide respiratory interventions. The literature on neonatal lung ultrasound has seen a rapid increase in recent years, but there persists a significant knowledge gap compared with adult critical care. Collaborative efforts and multicenter studies using rigorous methodology will hopefully contribute to increase experience and knowledge regarding applications in the coming years.

References

- Raimondi F, Yousef N, Migliaro F, Capasso L, De Luca D. Point-of-care lung ultrasound in neonatology: classification into descriptive and functional applications. Pediatr Res. 2018.
- Cattarossi L, Copetti R, Poskurica B. Radiation exposure early in life can be reduced by lung ultrasound. Chest. 2011;139(3):730–1.
- Escourrou G, De Luca D. Lung ultrasound decreased radiation exposure in preterm infants in a neonatal intensive care unit. Acta Paediatr. 2016;105(5):e237–9.
- Raimondi F, Migliaro F, De Luca D, Yousef N, Rodriguez FJ. Clinical data are essential to validate lung ultrasound. Chest. 2016;149(6):1575.

- Gomond-Le Goff C, Vivalda L, Foligno S, Loi B, Yousef N, De Luca D. Effect of different probes and expertise on the interpretation reliability of point-ofcare lung ultrasound. Chest. 2020;157(4):924–31.
- Copetti R, Cattarossi L, Macagno F, Violino M, Furlan R. Lung ultrasound in respiratory distress syndrome: a useful tool for early diagnosis. Neonatology. 2008;94(1):52–9.
- Brat R, Yousef N, Klifa R, Reynaud S, Shankar Aguilera S, De Luca D. Lung ultrasonography score to evaluate oxygenation and surfactant need in neonates treated with continuous positive airway pressure. JAMA Pediatr. 2015;169(8):e151797.
- Blank DA, Rogerson SR, Kamlin COF, Fox LM, Lorenz L, Kane SC, et al. Lung ultrasound during the initiation of breathing in healthy term and late preterm infants immediately after birth, a prospective, observational study. Resuscitation. 2017;114:59–65.
- Blank DA, Gaertner VD, Kamlin COF, Nyland K, Eckard NO, Dawson JA, et al. Respiratory changes in term infants immediately after birth. Resuscitation. 2018;130:105–10.
- Martelius L, Süvari L, Janér C, Helve O, Kaskinen A, Kirjavainen T, et al. Lung ultrasound and static lung compliance during postnatal adaptation in healthy term infants. Neonatology. 2015;108(4):287–92.
- 11. Guo BB, Wang KK, Xie L, Liu XJ, Chen XY, Zhang F, Chen C, Wu CJ. Comprehensive Quantitative Assessment of Lung Liquid Clearance by Lung Ultrasound Score in Neonates with No Lung Disease during the First 24 Hours. Biomed Res Int. 2020;24;2020:6598348. https://doi. org/10.1155/2020/6598348. PMID: 32185213; PMCID: PMC7060879.
- Raimondi F, Migliaro F, Sodano A, Umbaldo A, Romano A, Vallone G, et al. Can neonatal lung ultrasound monitor fluid clearance and predict the need of respiratory support? Crit Care. 2012;16(6):R220.
- Poerio A, Galletti S, Baldazzi M, Martini S, Rollo A, Spinedi S, et al. Lung ultrasound features predict admission to the neonatal intensive care unit in infants with transient neonatal tachypnoea or respiratory distress syndrome born by caesarean section. Eur J Pediatr. 2021;180(3):869–76.
- Copetti R, Cattarossi L. The "double lung point": an ultrasound sign diagnostic of transient tachypnea of the newborn. Neonatology. 2007;91(3):203–9.
- Raimondi F, Yousef N, Rodriguez Fanjul J, De Luca D, Corsini I, Shankar-Aguilera S, et al. A multicenter lung ultrasound study on transient tachypnea of the neonate. Neonatology. 2019;115(3):263–8.
- Vergine M, Copetti R, Brusa G, Cattarossi L. Lung ultrasound accuracy in respiratory distress syndrome and transient tachypnea of the newborn. Neonatology. 2014;106(2):87–93.
- Liu J, Chen XX, Li XW, Chen SW, Wang Y, Fu W. Lung Ultrasonography to Diagnose Transient Tachypnea of the Newborn. Chest. 2016;149(5):1269–75.

- Machado LU, Fiori HH, Baldisserotto M, Ramos Garcia PC, Vieira ACG, Fiori RM. Surfactant deficiency in transient tachypnea of the newborn. J Pediatr. 2011;159(5):750–4.
- Autilio C, Echaide M, Benachi A, Marfaing-Koka A, Capoluongo ED, Pérez-Gil J, et al. A noninvasive surfactant adsorption test predicting the need for surfactant therapy in preterm infants treated with continuous positive airway pressure. J Pediatr. 2017;182: 66–73.e1.
- 20. Lichtenstein DA. Lung ultrasound in the critically ill. Ann Intensive Care. 2014;4(1):1.
- Raimondi F, Rodriguez Fanjul J, Aversa S, Chirico G, Yousef N, De Luca D, et al. Lung ultrasound for diagnosing pneumothorax in the critically ill neonate. J Pediatr. 2016;175:74–78.e1.
- 22. Alrajab S, Youssef AM, Akkus NI, Caldito G. Pleural ultrasonography versus chest radiography for the diagnosis of pneumothorax: review of the literature and meta-analysis. Crit Care. 2013;17(5):R208.
- Cattarossi L, Copetti R, Brusa G, Pintaldi S. Lung ultrasound diagnostic accuracy in neonatal pneumothorax. Can Respir J. 2016;2016:6515069.
- Dahmarde H, Parooie F, Salarzaei M. Accuracy of ultrasound in diagnosis of pneumothorax: a comparison between neonates and adults-a systematic review and meta-analysis. Can Respir J. 2019;2019:5271982.
- 25. Singh Y, Tissot C, Fraga MV, Yousef N, Cortes RG, Lopez J, et al. International evidence-based guidelines on point of care ultrasound (POCUS) for critically ill neonates and children issued by the POCUS Working Group of the European Society of Paediatric and Neonatal Intensive Care (ESPNIC). Crit Care. 2020;24(1):65.
- Kopincova J, Calkovska A. Meconium-induced inflammation and surfactant inactivation: specifics of molecular mechanisms. Pediatr Res. 2016;79(4):514–21.
- 27. De Luca D, van Kaam AH, Tingay DG, Courtney SE, Danhaive O, Carnielli VP, et al. The Montreux definition of neonatal ARDS: biological and clinical background behind the description of a new entity. Lancet Respir Med. 2017;5(8):657–66.
- Piastra M, Yousef N, Brat R, Manzoni P, Mokhtari M, De Luca D. Lung ultrasound findings in meconium aspiration syndrome. Early Hum Dev. 2014;90(Suppl 2):S41–3.
- Liu J, Cao HY, Fu W. Lung ultrasonography to diagnose meconium aspiration syndrome of the newborn. J Int Med Res. 2016;44(6):1534–42.
- 30. Autilio C, Echaide M, Shankar-Aguilera S, Bragado R, Amidani D, Salomone F, et al. Surfactant injury in the early phase of severe meconium aspiration syndrome. Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol. 2020;63(3): 327–37.
- Meau-Petit V, Fox GF. Atypical presentation of congenital pneumonia: value of lung ultrasound. J Adv Pediatr Child Health. 2021;4(1):033–4.

- Liu J, Liu F, Liu Y, Wang HW, Feng ZC. Lung ultrasonography for the diagnosis of severe neonatal pneumonia. Chest. 2014;146(2):383–8.
- Chen SW, Fu W, Liu J, Wang Y. Routine application of lung ultrasonography in the neonatal intensive care unit. Medicine (Baltimore). 2017;96(2):e5826.
- 34. Pereda MA, Chavez MA, Hooper-Miele CC, Gilman RH, Steinhoff MC, Ellington LE, et al. Lung ultrasound for the diagnosis of pneumonia in children: a meta-analysis. Pediatrics. 2015;135(4):714–22.
- ESPNIC textbooks [Internet]. ESPNIC. [cited 2022 May 4]. https://www.espnic.eu/education/textbooks/.
- Tusor N, De Cunto A, Basma Y, Klein JL, Meau-Petit V. Ventilator-associated pneumonia in neonates: the role of point of care lung ultrasound. Eur J Pediatr. 2021;180(1):137–46.
- De Luca D. The promise of lung ultrasound to monitor evolution of chronic respiratory morbidity in preterm infants. Chest. 2021;160(3):799–800.
- Aldecoa-Bilbao V, Velilla M, Teresa-Palacio M, Esponera CB, Barbero AH, Sin-Soler M, et al. Lung ultrasound in bronchopulmonary dysplasia: patterns and predictors in very preterm infants. Neonatology. 2021;118(5):537–45.
- Bellani G, Mauri T, Pesenti A. Imaging in acute lung injury and acute respiratory distress syndrome. Curr Opin Crit Care. 2012;18(1):29–34.
- 40. Riviello ED, Kiviri W, Twagirumugabe T, Mueller A, Banner-Goodspeed VM, Officer L, et al. Hospital incidence and outcomes of the acute respiratory distress syndrome using the Kigali modification of the Berlin definition. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2016;193(1):52–9.
- 41. De Luca D, van Kaam AH, Tingay DG, Courtney SE, Danhaive O, Carnielli VP, et al. Lung ultrasound and neonatal ARDS: is Montreux closer to Berlin than to Kigali?—authors' reply. Lancet Respir Med. 2017;5(11):e32.
- Stanton M, Njere I, Ade-Ajayi N, Patel S, Davenport M. Systematic review and meta-analysis of the postnatal management of congenital cystic lung lesions. J Pediatr Surg. 2009;44(5):1027–33.
- 43. Yousef N, Mokhtari M, Durand P, Raimondi F, Migliaro F, Letourneau A, et al. Lung ultrasound findings in congenital pulmonary airway malformation. Am J Perinatol. 2018;35(12):1222–7.
- 44. Merli L, Nanni L, Curatola A, Pellegrino M, De Santis M, Silvaroli S, et al. Congenital lung malformations: a novel application for lung ultrasound? J Ultrasound. 2021;24(3):349–53.
- 45. Quercia M, Panza R, Calderoni G, Di Mauro A, Laforgia N. Lung ultrasound: a new tool in the management of congenital lung malformation. Am J Perinatol. 2019;36(S2):S99–S105.
- Corsini I, Parri N, Coviello C, Leonardi V, Dani C. Lung ultrasound findings in congenital diaphragmatic hernia. Eur J Pediatr. 2019;178(4): 491–5.
- 47. Mongodi S, De Luca D, Colombo A, Stella A, Santangelo E, Corradi F, et al. Quantitative lung ultra-

sound: technical aspects and clinical applications. Anesthesiology. 2021;134(6):949–65.

- Bouhemad B, Brisson H, Le-Guen M, Arbelot C, Lu Q, Rouby JJ. Bedside ultrasound assessment of positive end-expiratory pressure-induced lung recruitment. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;183(3):341–7.
- 49. De Martino L, Yousef N, Ben-Ammar R, Raimondi F, Shankar-Aguilera S, De Luca D. Lung ultrasound score predicts surfactant need in extremely preterm neonates. Pediatrics. 2018;142(3):e20180463.
- De Luca D, Autilio C, Pezza L, Shankar-Aguilera S, Tingay DG, Carnielli VP. Personalized medicine for the management of RDS in preterm neonates. Neonatology. 2021;118(2):127–38.
- Perri A, Riccardi R, Iannotta R, Di Molfetta DV, Arena R, Vento G, et al. Lung ultrasonography score versus chest X-ray score to predict surfactant administration in newborns with respiratory distress syndrome. Pediatr Pulmonol. 2018;53(9):1231–6.
- 52. Raimondi F, Migliaro F, Sodano A, Ferrara T, Lama S, Vallone G, et al. Use of neonatal chest ultrasound to predict noninvasive ventilation failure. Pediatrics. 2014;134(4):e1089–94.
- 53. Razak A, Faden M. Neonatal lung ultrasonography to evaluate need for surfactant or mechanical ventilation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Arch Dis Child Fetal Neonatal Ed. 2020;105(2):164–71.
- Bahadue FL, Soll R. Early versus delayed selective surfactant treatment for neonatal respiratory distress syndrome. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2012;11:CD001456.
- 55. Raschetti R, Yousef N, Vigo G, Marseglia G, Centorrino R, Ben-Ammar R, et al. Echographyguided surfactant therapy to improve timeliness of surfactant replacement: a quality improvement project. J Pediatr. 2019;212:137–143.e1.
- 56. Rodriguez-Fanjul J, Jordan I, Balaguer M, Batista-Muñoz A, Ramon M, Bobillo-Perez S. Early surfactant replacement guided by lung ultrasound in preterm newborns with RDS: the ULTRASURF randomised controlled trial. Eur J Pediatr. 2020;179(12):1913–20.
- De Luca D, Yousef N. Pharmaceutical expenditure is unchanged with ultrasound-guided surfactant administration. Am J Perinatol. 2022;39(5):562–6.
- Abdelmawla M, Louis D, Narvey M, Elsayed Y. A lung ultrasound severity score predicts chronic lung disease in preterm infants. Am J Perinatol. 2019;36(13):1357–61.
- 59. Alonso-Ojembarrena A, Serna-Guerediaga I, Aldecoa-Bilbao V, Gregorio-Hernández R, Alonso-Quintela P, Concheiro-Guisán A, et al. The predictive value of lung ultrasound scores in developing bronchopulmonary dysplasia: a prospective multicenter diagnostic accuracy study. Chest. 2021;160(3):1006–16.
- 60. Loi B, Vigo G, Baraldi E, Raimondi F, Carnielli VP, Mosca F, et al. Lung ultrasound to monitor extremely preterm infants and predict bronchopulmonary dysplasia. A multicenter longitudinal cohort study. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2021;203(11):1398–409.

- Pezza L, Alonso-Ojembarrena A, Elsayed Y, Yousef N, Vedovelli L, Raimondi F, et al. Meta-analysis of lung ultrasound scores for early prediction of bronchopulmonary dysplasia. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2022;19(4):659–67.
- Lichtenstein DA. BLUE-protocol and FALLSprotocol: two applications of lung ultrasound in the critically ill. Chest. 2015;147(6):1659–70.
- 63. Milne J, Atkinson P, Lewis D, Fraser J, Diegelmann L, Olszynski P, et al. Sonography in hypotension and cardiac arrest (SHoC): rates of abnormal findings in undifferentiated hypotension and during cardiac arrest

as a basis for consensus on a hierarchical point of care ultrasound protocol. Cureus. 2016;8(4):e564.

- 64. Lichtenstein D, Malbrain MLNG. Critical care ultrasound in cardiac arrest. Technological requirements for performing the SESAME-protocol—a holistic approach. Anaesthesiol Intensive Ther. 2015;47(5):471–81.
- 65. Yousef N, Singh Y, De Luca D. "Playing it SAFE in the NICU" SAFE-R: a targeted diagnostic ultrasound protocol for the suddenly decompensating infant in the NICU. Eur J Pediatr. 2022;181(1):393–8.